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SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Defendant’s right to a fair and impartial jury was denied where, during
trial and while seated at the State’s table, the Chief Investigating Officer
turned his chair toward the gallery seated behind the defendant and stared at
the gallery for approximately 30 minutes. During a recess, the Bailiff was
asked a question about the incident, which set off many communications
between the Bailiff and jurors about the incident. After individual voir dire
was done on each juror concerning the incident, the prejudice had amounted

to presumptive prejudice requiring a new trial.



STATEMENT OF FACTS

This prosecution began as a capital murder case. The defendant, Luis
Sierra (hereinafter “Sierra”) was charged with Murder First Degree, Felony
Murder First Degree, Robbery First Degree, three counts of Possession of a
Firearm During the Commission of a Felony, Conspiracy Second Degree,
and Possession of a Firearm by a Person Prohibited.

At trial, there were often friends and family members seated in the
gallery behind the defendant. The State’s Chief Investigating Officer,
Detective Michael Gifford, sat between State’s counsel next to the jury. A
State’s witness, co-defendant Gregory Napier, testified shortly before a
lunch break. The prosecutor requested the Detective to turn his chair to face
the individuals in the gallery behind Sierra to see if there were any gestures
that may suggest an attempt to intimidate the State’s witness. A45. For
about a half hour’s worth of testimony, the Detective turned his chair and
faced the gallery directly. His back was to the jury. A44. Napier’s
testimony was interrupted by a lunch break. During the recess, the Court
was advised by a bailiff that a juror had asked her why the Detective had
turned to face the gallery. Other jurors had “expressed their curiosity” and
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“were all kind of, like, talking, yes, pretty much amongst each other” about
the Detective’s actions. A43-44.

The Court conducted individual voir dire of each of the jurors. Of the
sixteen questioned, thirteen had noticed the Detective facing the gallery
behind the defense table. A47. Juror Number Four was asked the following
questions:

THE COURT: Did you hear any juror talk about anything out of the
ordinary at the State’s table during Mr. Napier’s testimony?

ANSWER: Just that they see something but not what it was because we’re
not allowed to discuss that. So, I know somebody saw something but I
didn’t see what that something was.

THE COURT: Now, how do you know that somebody saw something? Did
you hear somebody say that?

ANSWER: When the bailiff came in to the jury room and said that some
people had expressed concerns to her about something they’d seen and, then,
that started this whole process. But I have no idea what it is they’re talking

about.



THE COURT: Did the bailiff say what it was that people had seen in here?
ANSWER: No.
THE COURT: All right. Is there anything about this incident that would
make it difficult for you to remain a fair and impartial juror in this case?
ANSWER: No. A50-51.

The Court questioned the bailiff about any exchange that may have
occurred between she and the jurors about the issue:
THE COURT: Erika, I’ve asked you to come in because Juror No. 4, you
were in the courtroom and heard what he had to say, said that you went into
the jury room and said something with — to a number of jurors, if not all of
them, to the effect, did anybody see anything in the courtroom. Now, did
you say anything to that effect to the jury, even if you didn’t use the words
or say it was Detective Gifford’s seating position?
THE BAILIFF: No, that was just now, Your Honor, when I told them they
were going to be coming into the courtroom as an individual and they’re
going to be voir dired as to what, you know, has occurred in the courtroom.
THE COURT: What further did you say?
THE BAILIFF; Four was not actually on the list so he — it was 16, five,
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eleven, and four. I thought four was six, but the only ones were the other
ones that I listed.

THE COURT: But, then, when you went into the jury room right now, did
you give them any indication — I guess you did, of what I wanted to meet
with them about, it had something to do in the courtroom?

THE BAILIFF: No, just that they were coming in as an individual and they
were going to be voir dired and per their questioning, per their questioning.
THE COURT: What do you mean per their questions?

THE BAILIFF: The question that they — whoever had a question, whoever
had a concern or a question.

THE COURT: Now, you said pursuant to their questioning. That sounds
like more than one.

THE BAILIFF: Yeah, the more — the more than one that had a concern or a
question.

THE COURT: Were they told that they were going to be individually voir
dired about something that had happened in the courtroom, even if you

didn’t say what it was?



THE BAILIFF: No, just per their concern or question if they had any
concern or question.
THE COURT: All right. I’ll say I don’t think you should have said that to
the jury panel. They don’t need to know that the judge has any concern or
question. If1 do, I’ll tell them that when I meet with them individually.
THE BAILIFF: Not you having a concern, if they have a concern or
question.
THE COURT: Yes, I understand, but you shouldn’t assume that somebody
has a concern or a question, especially if nobody has come up to you.
THE BAILIFF: No, Your Honor, just the ones that have came up to me. I
said that you — the ones that have a concern or question will be going inside
the courtroom.
THE COURT: Well, actually that’s not correct. I do want to meet with
every single juror, not just the ones that maybe expressed some concern or
question. All right. Please bring in Juror No. 5. AS51.

Juror number 6 testified that he asked the bailiff about the Detective’s
positioning on the way out. He was curious if that was a court procedure.
He testified the bailiff “said something along the lines of he was just turned
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that way, and that there was no procedure that she mentioned to me.” The
voir continued:

THE COURT: All right. Did you hear any other jurors discussing Detective
Giffords seat positioning?

ANSWER: There was a general discussion when we first went back to the
room. I don’t know which jurors.

THE COURT: You said there was a general question?

ANSWER: Just a few people saying that Detective Gifford looked like he
was facing away. AS2.

Juror No. 8 testified that as he exited the restroom, the bailiff approached
him and asked if he had any questions. He was going to mention it to her
and she stopped me and just wrote my number down. AS53.

Juror No. 9 testified that he had observed the Detective’s actions and was
asked by the Court if he discussed that concern with any other juror or the
bailiff. He responded, “I had just asked when she asked if any of us had
noticed something weird or different during the trial. I raised my hand,
because, I guess, someone else brought it to her attention.” A54.
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Jurors 8 and 12 expressed their belief that the Detective was “keeping an
eye on” people in the back or “wondering what was going on in the back of
the courtroom.” A53-54, A56.

Juror 15 also acknowledged seeing the Detectives actions. When asked if
she discussed that with other jurors, she testified that she had “just brought
up about his staring and that was about it.” ASS.

Both of Sierra’s co-defendants testified against him, indicating that Sierra
shot the victim several times during a robbery. Additionally, an inmate
testified that Sierra had admitted the crime to him. Cellphone records placed
the defendant at or near the scene of the crime. Finally, a civilian witness
testified about the shooting, describing the individuals involved.

Prior to trial, the Court had severed the count of Possession of a Firearm
By a Person Prohibited. After Sierra was found guilty of ali charges, the

State dismissed the Person Prohibited count.



Question Presented.

Whether the bailiff’s communications with jurors regarding the Chief
Investigator Officer’s conduct during the trial violated Sierra’s Sixth
Amendment right to a fair trial.

The interests of justice exception to Rule 8 applies as Sierra’s

constitutional right to a fair trial is in question.

Scope of Review.

“Under the plain error standard of review, the error complained of must
be so clearly prejudicial to substantial rights as to jeopardize the fairness and
integrity of the trial process.” Turner v. State, 5 A.3d 612, 615 (Del.
2010)(quoting Wainright v. State, 504 A.2d 1096, 1100 (Del. 1986).
“Furthermore, the doctrine of plain error is limited to material defects which
are apparent on the face of the record; which are basic, serious and
fundamental in their character, and which clearly deprive an accused of a

substantial right, or which clearly shows manifest injustice.” 1d.

10



Merits of Argument.
a. The bailiff’s communication with jurors.

During trial, numerous friends and family members of Sierra were seated
in the gallery directly behind the defense table. The State’s Chief
Investigating Officer, Detective Michael Gifford, sat between State’s
counsel next to the jury. A State’s witness, co-defendant Gregory Napier,
testified shortly before a lunch break. The prosecutor requested the
Detective to turn his chair to face the individuals in the gallery behind Sierra
to see if there were any gestures that may suggest an attempt to intimidate
the State’s witness. For about a half hour’s worth of testimony, the
Detective turned his chair and faced the gallery directly. His back was to the
jury. Napier’s testimony was interrupted by a lunch break. During the
recess, the Court was advised by a bailiff that a juror had asked her why the
Detective had turned to face the gallery. Other jurors had “expressed their
curiosity” and “were all kind of, like, talking, yes, pretty much amongst each
other” about the Detective’s actions.

The Court conducted individual voir dire of each of the jurors. Of the
sixteen questioned, thirteen had noticed the Detective facing the gallery
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behind the defense table. Juror Number Four was asked the following
questions:

THE COURT: Did you hear any juror talk about anything out of the
ordinary at the State’s table during Mr. Napier’s testimony?

ANSWER: Just that they see something but not what it was because we’re
not allowed to discuss that. So, I know somebody saw something but I
didn’t see what that something was.

THE COURT: Now, how do you know that somebody saw something? Did
you hear somebody say that?

ANSWER: When the bailiff came in to the jury room and said that
some people had expressed concerns to her about something they’d seen
and, then, that started this whole process. But I have no idea what it is
they’re talking about.

THE COURT: Did the bailiff say what it was that people had seen in here?
ANSWER: No.

THE COURT: All right. Is there anything about this incident that would
make it difficult for you to remain a fair and impartial juror in this case?
ANSWER: No.
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The Court questioned the bailiff about any exchange that may have
occurred between she and the jurors about the issue:
THE COURT: Erika, I’ve asked you to come in because Juror No. 4, you
were in the courtroom and heard what he had to say, said that you went into
the jury room and said something with — to a number of jurors, if not all of
them, to the effect, did anybody see anything in the courtroom. Now, did
you say anything to that effect to the jury, even if you didn’t use the words
or say it was Detective Gifford’s seating position?
THE BAILIFF: No, that was just now, Your Honor, when I told them they
were going to be coming into the courtroom as an individual and they’re
going to be voir dired as to what, you know, has occurred in the
courtroom.
THE COURT: What further did you say?
THE BAILIFF: Four was not actually on the list so he — it was 16, five,
eleven, and four. I thought four was six, but the only ones were the other
ones that I listed.
THE COURT: But, then, when you went into the jury room right now, did

you give them any indication — I guess you did, of what I wanted to meet
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with them about, it had something to do in the courtroom?

THE BAILIFF: No, just that they were coming in as an individual and
they were going to be voir dired and per their questioning, per their
questioning.

THE COURT: What do you mean per their questions?

THE BAILIFF: The question that they — whoever had a question, whoever
had a concern or a question.

THE COURT: Now, you said pursuant to their questioning. That sounds
like more than one.

THE BAILIFF: Yeah, the more — the more than one that had a concern
or a question.

THE COURT: Were they told that they were going to be individually voir
dired about something that had happened in the courtroom, even if you
didn’t say what it was?

THE BAILIFF: No, just per their concern or question if they had any
concern or question.

THE COURT: All right. I'll say I don’t think you should have said that to

the jury panel. They don’t need to know that the judge has any concern or
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question. If1 do, I’ll tell them that when I meet with them individually.

THE BAILIFF: Not you having a concern, if they have a concern or
question.

THE COURT: Yes, I understand, but you shouldn’t assume that somebody
has a concern or a question, especially if nobody has come up to you.

THE BAILIFF: No, Your Honor, just the ones that have came up to me.
I said that you — the ones that have a concern or question will be going
inside the courtroom.

THE COURT: Well, actually that’s not correct. I do want to meet with
every single juror, not just the ones that maybe expressed some concern or
question. All right. Please bring in Juror No. 5.

Juror number 6 testified that he asked the bailiff about the
Detective’s positioning on the way out. He was curious if that was a
court procedure. He testified the bailiff “said something along the lines
of he was just turned that way, and that there was no procedure that
she mentioned to me.” The voir continued:

THE COURT: All right. Did you hear any other jurors discussing Detective
Giffords seat positioning?

15



ANSWER: There was a general discussion when we first went back to
the room. I don’t know which jurors (emphasis added).

THE COURT: You said there was a general question?

ANSWER: Just a few people saying that Detective Gifford looked like
he was facing away (emphasis added).

Juror No. 8 testified that as he exited the restroom, the bailiff
approached him and asked if he had any questions. He was going to
mention it to her and she stopped me and just wrote my number down.
(emphasis added).

Juror No. 9 testified that he had observed the Detective’s actions and was
asked by the Court if he discussed that concern with any other juror or the
bailiff. He responded, “I had just asked when she asked if any of us had
noticed something weird or different during the trial. I raised my hand,
because, I guess, someone else brought it to her attention (emphasis
added).”

Jurors 4 and 12 expressed their belief that the Detective was “keeping an
eye on” people in the back or “looking at the people” in the back.
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Juror 15 also acknowledged seeing the Detectives actions. When asked if
she discussed that with other jurors, she testified that she had “just brought
up about his staring and that was about it.”

Each juror indicated to the Court they could remain impartial and the trial
continued without any objection from the defense as to the bailiff’s
communications with the jurors.

b. The bailiff’s conduct was presumptively prejudicial.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 7
of the Delaware Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant the right to
have his case brought before an impartial jury. Flonnery v. State, 778 A.2d
1044, 1052 (Del. 2001). This right requires that jury verdicts be based
solely on the evidence presented at trial. Id. Moreover, a defendant can be
denied his Sixth Amendment right to an impartial jury if only one juror is
improperly influenced. Massey v. State, 541 A.2d 1254, 1257 (Del. 1988).
In order to succeed on a claim of juror misconduct, a defendant must
demonstrate the existence of circumstances that, if true, would be deemed
inherently prejudicial to the defendant, raising a presumption of prejudice in
favor the defendant. Grayson v. State, 62 A.3d 1223, 1224 (Del. 2013).
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Conduct that has been deemed presumptively prejudicial includes: (1) a
bailiff’s comment to jurors that relates to the content or procedure of the
deliberations; (2) a bailiff’s comments to the jurors that expresses his view
of the evidence; and (3) when jurors are made aware of information, not
introduced at trial, that relates to the facts of the case or the character of the
defendant. Massey at 1257.

It is uncontested that the Chief Investigating Officer, at the request of the
State, turned his back to the jury and stared at the gallery seated behind the
defendant for approximately 30 minutes.

The actions of the bailiff were described by various members of the jury.
According to Juror No. 4, he did not observe the Detective turn to the back
of the courtroom. He testified that the bailiff entered the jury room and said
that some people expressed concern about something they’d seen. Juror No.
6 asked the bailiff if the Detective’s positioning was a court procedure, to
which the bailiff responded “he was just turned that way” and there was no
procedure mentioned by her. He testified there was a general discussion in
the jury room about the incident. Juror No. 8 testified that as he exited the
restroom he was approached by the bailiff who asked if he had any

18



questions. The juror took that to mean the Detective’s actions. Juror No. 9
confirmed the testimony of Juror No. 4 to some degree, testifying the bailiff
“asked if any of ﬁs had noticed something weird or different during the
trial.”

The bailiff told the Court that she “told them they were going to be
coming into the courtroom as an individual and they’re going to be voir
dired as to what, you know, has occurred in the courtroom.” When asked by
the Court if she had informed the jurors why they were to be brought into
Court, she responded, “No, just that they were }coming in as an individual
and there were going to be voir dired and per their questioning, per their
questioning.” The bailiff stated several times that she only told the jury that
those with a “concern or question” will be going inside the courtroom.

The actions of the bailiff were presumptively prejudicial to the
defendant’s right to a fair and impartial jury. Two jurors claimed the bailiff
entered the jury room “and said that some people have expressed concerns to
her about something they’d seen” and that “she asked if any of us had
noticed something weird or different during the trial.” Another jury said he
was approached by the bailiff and asked if he had any questions. The juror
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took that to mean the Detective’s turning around. By bringing attention to
the Detective’s actions, the bailiff may have impugned the character of the
defendant. That is, since the Detective was keeping an eye on the people
seated behind the defendant, he was doing so for fear of their potential
actions. By association, then, the defendant’s character may have been
called into question. Here, at least two jurors specifically expressed their
opinion that the Detective was worried about those in the back. Juror No. 8
“was wondering who was in the courtroom that he was observing at the
time” and that it gave him “curiosity about what was going on in the back of
the courtroom.” Juror 12 testified that “it had drew my attention to the
couple of gentleman in the back of the courtroom. I figured he was keeping
an eye on them.”

The bailiff’s actions could also have been construed as a comment on the
proceedings. By labeling the Detective’s actions as “weird or different,” the
jury could very well conclude that the State was treating the gallery’s
presence as something that was unwelcomed, frowned upon, or suspicious.
That is, the proceedings here were unusual in that something like that had
not happened before.

20



The bailiff’s actions certainly emphasized to the jury that since the State
has cause for concern, perhaps it too should be aware of the people in the
back and make their own judgments about them. It is not unusual for a trial
court to inform counsel that the actions and appearance of some gallery
members is not helpful to the defense.

The State chose an unusual manner to have the gallery observed. Such
work has typically been done by bailiffs, presumably to avoid the
“awkward,” “odd,” “different,” “curious,” “weird,” and “strange” actions by
the prosecution. The bailiff’s actions further created prejudice by focusing
the jurors on the issue by asking if they had seen anything weird, by
approaching a juror to see if he had any questions, by telling them some
jurors had concerns about something they’d seen, and by telling a juror that
the Detective was just turned around and no procedure was involved. She
then informed the jury that the jurors who had concerns would be brought
before the Court for individualized voir dire about their questions or
concerns. This simply re-emphasized the need for the jury to be aware of
the importance of the issue, and the importance of the Detective watching
the people in the back of the courtroom.
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Sierra filed a Motion for New Trial in this case, arguing that the
Detective’s actions denied him a fair trial. The argument focused mainly on
the prejudicial nature of those actions, but did not address the jurors
responses or bailiff’s involvement. However, the Trial Judge addressed the
discussions among jurors and whether that violated Sierra’s right to a fair
and impartial trial. Citing Styler v. State, 417 A.2d 948, 953 (Del. 1980), the
Court found the discussions to be “loose talk” rather than improper bias.

The issue raised in this Brief focuses on more than just the talk among
jurors or the Detective’s actions. The State created the issue by having the
Detective stare at the gallery for 30 minutes. When a juror approached the
bailiff with a question about that, the bailiff imprudently spoke to the jurors
about what was going on in the courtroom, jurors concerns about what was
going on, approached a juror to ask if they had a question, and informed
them that the Court would voir dire each individual who had a question or
concern. Individual voir dire followed, and although the Trial Court was
satisfied the jury could remain impartial, the process that had been started by
the State resulted in presumptive prejudice against Sierra requiring a new
trial.
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CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, Defendant-Below, Appellant, Luis Sierra
respectfully requests that his conviction be vacated that the matter be

remanded to the Superior Court for a new trial.
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OF THE
STATE OF DELAWARE
RICHARD R. COOCH NEW CASTLE COUNTY COURTHOUSE
RESIDENT JUDGE 500 North King Street, Suite 10400

Wilmington, Delaware 19801-3733
(302) 255-0664

John W. Downs, Esquire
Joseph S. Grubb, Esquire
Deputy Attorneys General
Delaware Department of Justice
820 North French Street
Wilmington, Delaware 19801
Attorneys for State

John A. Barber, Esquire
1232 North King Street, Suite 300
Wilmington, Delaware 19801

Christopher D. Tease, Esquire

1324 North King Street
Wilmington, Delaware 19801
Attorneys for Defendant Luis Sierra

Re: State of Delaware v. Luis Sierra
L.D. No. 1006013865

Submitted : July 16, 2012
Decided : September 6, 2012

On Defendant’s Motion for a New Trial.

DENIED.

Dear Counsel:

Convicted First Degree Murder Defendant Luis Sierra seeks a new trial
asserting that his Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial was prejudiced by (1) the
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police detective’s conduct during an accomplice’s testimony; (2) the cell phone
expert testimony and; (3) a claimed deficient accomplice testimony jury instruction.
The Court finds that (1) defendant was not prejudiced by the detective’s conduct; (2)
the challenged expert testimony was legally sufficient and; (3) the accomplice
testimony instruction was adequate. Therefore, the Defendant’s Motion for a New
Trial is DENIED.

I. PROCEDURAL AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On June 12, 2010, Anthony Bing (“Bing”) was shot and killed in Allen’s
Alley in Wilmington. Luis Sierra, (“Sierra” or “Defendant”) Gregory Napier,
(“Napier”) and Tywaan Johnson (“Johnson”) were arrested for Bing’s murder.
Napier pled guilty to a lesser included offense of Manslaughter among other felonies
and agreed to testify against his codefendants. The State indicted Sierra and
Johnson on Murder First Degree charges and additional felonies. The Court severed
the trials and proceeded with Johnson’s case as a noncapital offense, while Sierra’s
case remained a capital prosecution. A jury found Johnson guilty on all counts in
September 2011. In January 2012, a jury convicted Sierra on all charges. The jury
recommended life imprisonment by an eleven to one margin, rather than the death
penalty. The defendant has not yet been sentenced.

Napier testified as a State witness during both trials and told the jury that he,
Sierra, and Johnson met Bing in Allen’s Alley to purchase drugs. Napier testified
that, unbeknownst to him, his codefendants were armed, and rather than purchase
drugs, intended to rob Bing. Napier testified that after stealing the drugs, Sierra shot
Bing several times and fled.

A. The Detective’s Observation of Trial Spectators

During Sierra’s trial, the State’s Chief Investigating Officer, Wilmington
Police Detective Michael Gifford (“Detective” or “Gifford”) sat between the two
prosecutors. A lunch recess interrupted Napier’s testimony. Immediately prior to
the lunch recess, the trial judge instructed the jury, as was done throughout trial,
“don’t talk about the case.”' Before returning from recess, the bailiff alerted the
Court that a juror asked her why Detective Gifford had turned around to look at

! Trial Tr. 94:6-7. (Jan., 20, 2012).



spectators during Napier’s testimony.” The bailiff advised the Court that other
jurors “expressed their curiosity” regarding Detective Gifford’s behavior and that
“[t]hey were all kind of, like, talking, yes, pretty much amongst each other” about
“why was the detective turned like that.”*> The bailiff personally observed that
during Napier’s testimony, Detective Gifford’s “chair was turned facing his back to
the jurors, and he was turned at an angle of the side of the defense . . . and that was
for at least a half an hour worth of testimony.”® Another bailiff agreed that Gifford
was “staring in [the] direction” of “a number of individuals that were there,
obviously there, in support of Mr. Sierra.”” During a recess, one courtroom
spectator “confronted Detective Gifford” and told him, “you don’t need to be staring
at us like that.”®

The Court further investigated this matter. Detective Gifford advised the
Court that “[a]t the request of the prosecutor, I was keeping an eye on the crowd for
any possible witness intimidation. ...”” The detective’s witness intimidation
concern was caused in part by “recent security issues” involving a spectator’s
attempt to share an elevator with a State witness exiting the courthouse.®

The Court conducted an individual voir dire with each juror. Thirteen of the
sixteen jurors responded they had noticed Detective Gifford facing toward the
courtroom’s rear gallery.” However, no juror reported that it affected that juror’s
ability to remain fair and impartial, and no juror stated any inference directly
adverse to Defendant from the detective’s conduct.'® Rather, the jurors only found
the detective’s conduct “awkward,”!! “odd,”!? “different,” * “curious,”"*
“weird,”!® or “strange.”16 At the individual voir dire’s conclusion, defense counsel
requested and was granted an extension potentially to move for a mistrial or seek a

2 Id. at 97:2-98:13.

3 Id. at 98:16-20.

* Id. at 99:3-7.

> Id. at 101:2-5,

8 Id. at 101:15-18.

7 Id. at 104:18-20.

8 Id. at 104:20-105:8.

% Id. at 115:1-155:20.

1074

14 at115:8.

12 1d. at 118:9; Id. at 143:22; Id. at 147:8.
B 1d. at 121:10; Id. at 142:8.
4 1d. at 130:15; Id. at 137:1.
5 Id. at 138:15.

16 1d. at 147:8; Id. at 147:16.



curative instruction regarding the issue until after the weekend.'” However, defense
counsel subsequently never sought a mistrial or any instruction.

B. The Cell Phone Expert Testimony

At trial, the State called Delaware Department of Justice Investigator Brian
Daly (“Daly”) as an expert analyzing cell towers and call detail records. Daly
reviewed a cell phone tower map and plotted tower locations that the codefendants’
phones connected to during the event. Daly identified certain calls made and used
PowerPoint to illustrate his findings. Specifically, Daly testified that the following
phone calls were made from Napier’s phone on June 12, 2010: (1) a phone call at
20:17:04, which was received by a cell tower at 2400 North Broom Street; (2) a
phone call at 20:26:23, which was received by the cell tower at 1400 East 12
Street; (3) a phone call at 20:30:11, which was received by the cell tower at 1000
West Street; (4) a phone call at 20:35:44, which was received by the cell tower at
1000 West Street. On direct examination, Daly stated the following regarding cell
phone ranges drawn on map exhibits to demonstrate the cell tower ranges:

Q: Can you say where specifically the phone was in
relationship to the section of the pie?

A: No, I can’t.

Q: Now, you have drawn a circle to demonstrate this,
correct?

A: That’s correct.

Q: Is the tower strength of the signal a circle just like you
have demonstrated?

A: No, it’s not. What I would refer to — an actual depiction
of this frequency would be having my two-year old
grandson draw a circle. And it would look pretty much like
that, it would be more accurate.

Q: What do you mean, Investigator Daly?

A: It doesn’t look like a circle at all. The way the range
goes, is, it goes from one tower to the next. So, in this area,
you have three different sections. Each signal is going to
go in that area, will go out until it meets the next tower. It
can’t go beyond the next tower. So, it would look like a
giant question mark because it does not look like —this is
done to just clean it up and give you an idea of what the
frequency would look like from the center out. But the
actual frequency looks nothing like a circle.'®

' 1d. at 157.
18 Trial Tr. 28-29 (Jan. 24, 2012).



C. The Accomplice Testimony Instruction

On January 26, 2012, the Court instructed the jury regarding Napier’s
accomplice testimony by utilizing the instruction set forth in Bland v. State."” On
February 27, 2012, the Delaware Supreme Court issued a decision in the case of
Brooks v. State that required a new instruction in all subsequent accomplice
testimony cases beginning March 15, 2012.%°

Defendant filed this Motion for a New Trial on March 30, 2012. The State
Responded on May 21, 2012. Defendant was directed to file a Reply Brief by June
13,2012. When no Reply Brief was filed, and after repeated Court inquiries about
this, and without receiving permission from the Court to dispense with filing the
court-ordered Reply Brief, defense counsel informed the court on July 16, 2012
that Defendant rested on the Motion’s merits and would not be filing a Reply Brief.

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Superior Court Criminal Rule 33 provides that “[t]he court on motion of a
defendant may grant a new trial to that defendant if required in the interest of
justice....*! The Court has discretion to grant a new trial but new trial grounds must
have been asserted during the preceding trial.”> Without demonstrated prejudice, a
new trial is not warranted.” But where a defendant is substantially prejudiced such
that the right to a fair trial is violated under the Sixth Amendment, a new trial is
warranted.”* The right to a fair trial is “a fundamental liberty secured by the
Fourteenth Amendment.”* “One accused of a crime is entitled to have his guilt or
innocence determined solely on the basis of the evidence introduced at trial, and not
on grounds of official suspicion, indictment, continued custody, or other
circumstances not adduced as proof at trial.”*®

' Bland v. State, 263 A.2d 286, 289 (Del. 1970).

% Brooks v. State, 40 A.3d 346, 349 (Del. 2012).

2! Super Ct. Crim. R. 33.

22 State v. Ruiz, 2002 WL 1265533, at *2 (Del. Super. June 4, 2002) (citing State v. Halko, 193
A.2d 817 (1963)).

2 Starling v. State, 882 A.2d 747, 755 (Del. 2005).

> State v. Hill, 2011 WL 2083949, at *6 (Del. Super. Apr. 21, 2011).

2 Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503 (1976) (citations omitted).

2 Taylor v. Kentucky, 436 U.S. 478, 485 (1978).
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When investigating whether a courtroom circumstance has prejudiced a jury,
“the question must be not whether jurors actually articulated a consciousness of
some prejudicial effect, but rather whether an unacceptable risk is presented of
impermissible factors coming into play.”?’

III. CONTENTIONS

A. Defendant’s Contentions

Defendant contends that his Sixth Amendment right to a fair trial was
prejudiced by Detective Gifford’s conduct during Napier’s testimony. Defendant
asserts that the detective’s continuous stares at courtroom spectators conveyed to the
jurors that Sierra’s supporters posed a threat, and therefore, by association, so did
Sierra. Defendant argues that the detective’s actions suggested the detective’s
familiarity with the spectators through his criminal investigations and that Sierra
associated with criminals. Defendant contends that the jurors’ voir dire and
subsequent instructions were insufficient to overcome the prejudice to Sierra.

Defendant also contends that the cell phone expert testimony and PowerPoint
exhibits unfairly prejudiced Sierra. Defendant asserts that his rights were violated
because the testimony was not relevant and reliable. Rather, Defendant asserts the
expert testimony caused unfair prejudice and confusion.

Lastly, Defendant argues that a new trial is required because the Court did not
instruct the jury with language Defendant contends was required for an accomplice
testimony instruction.

B. The State’s Contentions

Initially, the State contends that at trial Defendant failed to pursue each
present ground for a new trial and that justice therefore requires the Motion’s denial.
The State asserts that any prejudice caused by Detective Gifford’s behavior was
cured by the Court’s thorough juror inquiry. Specifically, the State argues that no
juror indicated that Detective’s actions affected that juror’s ability to be fair and

27 Holbrook v. Flynn, 475 U.S. 560, 570 (1986) (citations omitted).
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impartial. Furthermore, the State argues that Defendant had opportunity to request
any juror’s removal, yet the Defendant refrained from doing so and also did not
request a mistrial or any special curative instruction. The State contends
Defendant’s failure to object at trial invalidates the Motion for a New Trial.

The State asserts Defendant was notified in August 2010 that the State’s case
involved cell tower analysis and that defense counsel was aware that Daly had
testified in a similar fashion in codefendant Tywaan Johnson’s trial. Despite that,
defense counsel never challenged Daly’s testimony pretrial. Moreover, Defendant
proffered no expert testimony to rebut Daly’s testimony and made no
contemporaneous objection on these grounds.?®

Finally, the State argues the jury instruction language cited as necessary by
Defendant cannot have been required because the language was effectuated by the
Delaware Supreme Court in Brooks v. State after the jury’s guilty verdict. %

IV. DISCUSSION

a. The Detective’s Conduct During the Accomplice’s Testimony did
not Prejudice Defendant, Affect Juror Impartiality, or Contravene
Defendant’s Right to a Fair Trial.

The grounds upon which a new trial is sought must have been originally
raised during trial.*® The detective’s conduct during trial was addressed at length
and the Court comprehensively remediated any potential prejudice. First, the Court
inquired regarding each juror’s observations individually and queried jurors whether
their observations impacted their ability to be fair and impartial. Every juror
indicated they could remain fair and impartial. The Court instructed each juror
individually, throughout trial, and again before resuming, that jurors were not to talk
about the case.®! Furthermore, as standard for all jury instructions, the jurors were

28 Although defense counsel never objected during trial on Daubert grounds, counsel did object
to Daly’s testimony, asserting that exhibits were not timely produced. That objection was
resolved during trial and is not addressed in Defendant’s present Motion.

2 40 A.3d 346, 349 (Del. 2012).

30 Ruiz, 2002 WL 1265533, at *2 (Del. Super. June 4, 2002) (citing State v. Halko, 193 A.2d 817
(1963)).

31 Trial Tr. 160:11-20 (Jan. 20, 2012).



instructed, that “[i]t is your duty as jurors to determine the facts, and to determine
them only from the evidence in this case.”>”

The individual voir dire in connection with Detective Gifford’s observations
of courtroom spectators was entirely thorough. The voir dire revealed that beyond
reasonable curiosity, the jurors did not speculate to the degree Defendant now
contends. While most jurors witnessed detective’s conduct, no juror stated an
inference regarding why the detective turned and faced the spectators. No juror
testified that the jurors speculated about the spectators’ criminality. No juror stated
the detective’s conduct in any way affected the juror’s perception of Defendant.
Each jury member told the Court that he or she could remain fair and impartial.

Delaware courts have repeatedly emphasized that curative instructions can
relieve any potential resulting prejudice.”® Defense counsel did not request an
instruction that the jury disregard the detective’s conduct. That decision was likely
a tactical decision. However, the Court reminded the jury in the Court’s standard
instructions that verdicts must be determined “only from the evidence.”** This
instruction addressed the detective’s conduct without further undue attention to it.

While not explicitly argued by Defendant, the jury’s dialogue about the
detective’s conduct also does not merit a new trial. Throughout trial, the jurors were
instructed not to discuss the case and were again reminded immediately before the
recess.”> When investigating improper juror communications, the Delaware
Supreme Court has distinguished between improper communications and mere
“loose talk.”*® In Styler v. State, the Supreme Court reasoned that while an active
juror should never make statements about a case in response to a spectator’s
comment, where the statements constitute mere “loose talk,” rather than reflecting
improper bias, a new trial is not warranted.>’ Furthermore, in investigating juror
communications postverdict, “[p]otentially suspicious circumstances do not justify

32 Jury Instructions at 2 (Jan. 26, 2012) (emphasis added).
33 See T hompson v. State, 886 A.2d 1279 (Del. 2005) (the effectiveness of the trial court’s
curative jury instruction outweighed any potential resulting prejudice from prosecutor’s improper
remarks); Johnson v. State, 918 A.2d 338 (Del. 2006) (police testimony that defendant was
“known” to police was not prejudicial in part because jury was immediately instructed to
disregard comment); State v. Monroe, 2010 WL 1960123 (Del. Super. 2010) (Defendant not
entitled to new trial because trial court provided curative jury instruction regarding the admission
of a prior robbery).
** Jury Instructions at 2.
33 Trial Tr. 94:6-7. (Jan. 20, 2012).
;g Styler v. State, 417 A.2d 948, 953 (Del. 1980).
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such [postverdict] inquiry . . . [slJomething more than unverified conjecture must be
9938
shown.

The Styler analysis is apt to the juror dialogue in this case. The jurors’
“talking amongst each other,”* as described by the bailiff, at most, constitutes
“loose talk” rather than improper bias. While the jurors’ comments were not proper,
they do not demonstrate juror bias. Juror bias is intolerable in our judicial system;
however, there are nevertheless sound reasons for limiting retrospective inquiry into
judicial verdicts. One juror’s question for the bailiff spawned “loose” impromptu
conversation. The fear that such “loose talk” might reflect juror bias however, was
alleviated by the Court’s individual voir dire and each juror’s declaration that they
could remain fair and impartial.

A new trial is not merited from Detective’s courtroom behavior. Any
prejudice to Defendant was promptly and thoroughly investigated. The Court’s
inquiry revealed it did not impact juror impartiality and did not contravene
Defendant’s right to a fair trial. It is not inherently improper for a chief
investigating officer to observe whether any improper non-verbal spectator
communication occurs. Detective Gifford could have observed the spectators in a
more discreet manner, but his actions ultimately did not prejudice Defendant to the
extent a new trial is warranted. Detective Gifford’s conduct did not create an
“unacceptable risk” that impermissible factors were within the jury’s consideration
and does not compel the granting of a new trial in the interest of justice.*’

b. Defendant did not Timely Challenge the Cell Phone Expert
Testimony prior and the Expert Testimony was Otherwise
Permissible under Daubert.

In Daubert, the United States Supreme Court set forth factors for determining
the admissibility of scientific testimony: (1) the expert must be qualified; (2) the
evidence must be otherwise admissible, relevant, and reliable; (3) the basis for the
expert’s opinion must be reasonably relied upon by experts in the field and; (4) the
specialized knowledge the expert provides must assist the fact finder’s

8 Lovett v. State, 516 A.2d 455, 475 (Del.1986) (citations omitted) (holding that unverified
allegations that a juror was “pressured” into his verdict and that the jury may have participated in
an extrajudicial discussion regarding a murder prosecution constituted only speculation that the
;ury reached the verdict improperly).

? Trial Tr. at 98:16-20 (Jan. 20, 2012).

‘0 Holbrook v. Flynn, 475 U.S. 560, 570 (1986).
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understanding.*! In any expert testimony admissibility challenge, the Court must
consider Daubert “to make certain that an expert, whether basing testimony upon
professional studies or personal experience, employs in the courtroom the same
level of intellectual rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the relevant
field.”** “Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is
substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues,
or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time or
needless presentation of evidence.”*

Defendant’s argument that Daly’s expert testimony contravened his right to a
fair trial is unpersuasive. At its core, Defendant’s argument challenges the expert
testimony on evidentiary grounds, which is more appropriately contested either
through a pretrial motion or trial objection. Defendant was not surprised by the
expert testimony and Defendant never challenged Daly’s testimony on a Daubert
basis. Somewhat coincidentally, in an unrelated criminal case, the Delaware
Supreme Court reviewed Daly’s qualifications and testimony in a Daubert hearing
and found him sufficiently qualified to deliver nearly identical testimony.**

Because Defendant failed to challenge this expert until after trial, and
alternatively, because the Supreme Court has determined that Daly is qualified to
offer this similar expert testimony under Daubert, a new trial is not merited because
the challenge fails to establish a constitutional violation.

¢. The Accomplice Testimony Jury Instruction was Appropriate
Because the Instruction sought by Defendant was not yet
Effectuated.

Pursuant to the very recent Delaware Supreme Court case of Brooks v. State,
when an accomplice testifies, the following language is required in a jury
instruction:

! Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579 (1993); Nelson v. State, 628
A.2d 69, 74 (Del. 1993).

2 Kumho Tire Co., Ltd. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 152 (1999); M.G. Bancorporation, Inc., v.
Le Beau, 737 A.2d 513 (Del. 1999) (holding Delaware follows Daubert standards).

“ D.RE. 403.

Y See T aylor v. State, 23 A.3d 851, 856-57 (2011) (holding that trial court’s finding that Daly
was qualified under Daubert to deliver testimony and plot cell phone call locations was
supported by the record).
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A portion of the evidence presented by the State is the
testimony of admitted participants in the crime with which
these defendants are charged. For obvious reasons, the
testimony of an alleged accomplice should be examined by
you with more care and caution than the testimony of a
witness who did not participate in the crime charged. This
rule becomes particularly important when there is nothing
in the evidence, direct or circumstantial, to corroborate the
alleged accomplices’ accusation that these defendants
participated in the crime. Without such corroboration, you
should not find the defendants guilty unless, after careful
examination of the alleged accomplices’ testimony, you are
satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that it is true and you
may safely rely upon it. Of course, if you are so satisfied,
you would be justified in relying upon it, despite the lack of
corroboration, and in finding the defendants guilty.*®

While this precise jury instruction is now required for accomplice testimony,
the Supreme Court issued this decision on February 27, 2012, one month after the
jury convicted Defendant. The Supreme Court specifically required the modified
instruction’s inclusion in all accomplice testimony cases beginning March 15,
2012.* Furthermore, the instruction given by the Court in this case was arguably
more cautionary and favorable to the defendant than the modified Brooks instruction
in that Defendant’s accomplice testimony instruction was stronger than Brooks. In
the instant case, the instruction required that jurors evaluate accomplice testimony
with “suspicion and great caution,” *’ whereas the Brooks instruction now only

S Brooks v. State, 40 A.3d 346, 349 (Del. 2012) (emphasis added).

% Id. at 354. In assessing a defendant’s accomplice testimony instruction challenge and
employing a new future accomplice testimony instruction, the Court reasoned “the trial judge
correctly applied the law as it existed on the day he instructed the jury in [defendant’s] trial.” Id.
at 351.

47 Bland v. State, 263 A.2d 286, 289 (1970). Bland had provided that an appropriate accomplice
testimony instruction would include, in tofo: “A portion of the evidence presented by the State is
the testimony of admitted participants in the crime with which these defendants are charged. For
obvious reasons, the testimony of an alleged accomplice should be examined by you with
suspicion and great caution. This rule becomes particularly important when there is nothing in
the evidence, direct or circumstantial, to corroborate the alleged accomplices' accusation that
these defendants participated in the crime. Without such corroboration, you should not find the
defendants guilty unless, after careful examination of the alleged accomplices' testimony, you are
satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that it is true and that you may safely rely upon it. Of course,
if you are so satisfied, you would be justified in relying upon it, despite the lack of corroboration,
and in finding the defendants guilty.” (emphasis added).
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requires “more care and caution.”*® That the Court did not instruct the jury with a
jury instruction not yet effectuated certainly does not contravene Defendant’s right
to a fair trial. The Court instructed the jury with the appropriate jury instruction and
Defendant’s trial rights were protected.

Therefore, on all grounds, Defendant’s Motion for a New Triél is DENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Richard R. Cooch, R.J.

oc:  Prothonotary

*8 Brooks, 40 A.3d 346, 349.

* This Court notes that, despite a brief scheduling order issued April 17, 2012 that directed
Defendant’s counsel to file a Reply Brief by June 13, 2012, defendant’s counsel, without leave of
court, simply did not do so and did not affirmatively advise the Court of this non-compliance
with the scheduling order. The Court repeatedly contacted Defendant’s counsel to advise that

the Reply Brief was overdue. Finally, Defendant’s counsel apologized to the Court for not
having advised the Court that they did not intend to file a Reply Brief and stated that Defendant
“rests on the merits of the Motion.” Def’s Letter to Court (July 16, 2012). Defendant’s
counsel’s unauthorized decision not to file a Reply Brief is telling and suggests that they did not
believe they could successfully rebut the State’s arguments as set forth in its Answering Brief.
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EXHIBIT “B”



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE
IN AND FOR NEW CASTLE COUNTY

STATE OF DELAWARE
VSs.

LUIS SIERRA

Alias: LOUIS SIERRA

DOB: 02/19/1986
SBI: 00455723

CASE NUMBER: CRIMINAL ACTION NUMBER:

1006013865A IN10-06-1588
MURDER 1ST (F)
IN10-06-1589
ROBBERY 1ST(F)
IN10-06-1590
PFDCF (F)
IN10-06-1592
CONSP 2ND (F)
IN10-08-0224
MURDER 1ST (F)
IN10-08-0225
PFDCF (F)
IN10-08-0226
PFDCF (F)

COMMITMENT
NOLP remaining charges including ID/CRA: IN10-06-1591

SENTENCE ORDER

NOW THIS 15TH DAY OF OCTOBER, 2012, IT IS THE ORDER OF THE
COURT THAT:

The defendant is adjudged guilty of the offense(s) charged.
Costs are hereby suspended. Defendant is to pay all
statutory surcharges.

Restitution is to be submitted by Department of Justice
within 60 days.

AS TO IN10-06-1588- : TIS
MURDER 1ST

Effective June 15, 2010 the defendant is sentenced
as follows:

- The defendant is placed in the custody of the Department

of Correction for the balance of his/her ryﬁt‘fﬁm Agﬂeﬂa}{ EUPY

supervision level 5

** APPROVED ORDER** 1 October 3, 20 13AT:-‘-ESE(8HARUH AGNE\N
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'STATE OF DELAWARE
VSs.

LUIS SIERRA

DOB: 02/19/1986

SBI: 00455723

- Pursuant to 11 Del.C.4204 (K), the level 5 shall be
served without benefit of any form of early release.

AS TO IN10-06-1589- : TIS
ROBBERY 1ST

- This sentence is consecutive to any sentence now serving.

- The defendant is placed in the custody of the Department
of Correction for 20 year(s) at supervision level 5

AS TO IN10-06-1590- : TIS
PFDCF

- This sentence is consecutive to any sentence now serving.

- The defendant is placed in the custody of the Department
of Correction for 10 year(s) at supervision level 5

AS TO IN10-06-1592- : TIS
CONSP 2ND

- This sentence is consecutive to any sentence now serving.

- The defendant is placed in the custody of the Department
of Correction for 2 year(s) at supervision level 5

AS TO IN10-08-0224- : TIS
MURDER 1ST

- The defendant is placed in the custody of the Department
of Correction for the balance of his/her natural life at
supervision level 5

- Pursuant to 11 Del.C.4204(K), the level 5 shall be
served without benefit of any form of early release.

AS TO IN10-08-0225~- : TIS
PFDCF

- This sentence is consecutive to any sentence now serving.

- The defendant is placed in the custody of the Department
of Correction for 10 year(s) at supervision level 5

AS TO IN10-08-0226- : TIS
PFDCF

- This sentence is consecutive to any sentence now serving.

**APPROVED ORDER** 2 October 3, 2013 11:10
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"STATE OF DELAWARE
VSs.

LUIS SIERRA

DOB: 02/19/1986

SBI: 00455723

- The defendant is placed in the custody of the Department
of Correction for 10 year(s) at supervision level 5

** APPROVED ORDER* * 3 October 3, 2013 11:10
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SPECIAL CONDITIONS BY ORDER

STATE OF DELAWARE
Vs.

LUIS SIERRA

DOB: 02/19/1986

SBI: 00455723
CASE NUMBER:

1006013865A

Defendant shall be evaluated for substance abuse and follow
recommendation for treatment, counseling and screening.

Have no contact with victims family members.

JUDGE RICHARD R COOCH

** APPROVED ORDER* * 4 October 3, 2013 11:10
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

STATE OF DELAWARE
VS.

LUIS SIERRA

DOB: 02/19/1986

SBI: 00455723

SENTENCE CONTINUED:

CASE NUMBER:
1006013865A

TOTAL DRUG DIVERSION FEE ORDERED

TOTAL CIVIL PENALTY ORDERED

TOTAL DRUG REHAB. TREAT. ED. ORDERED

TOTAL EXTRADITION ORDERED

TOTAL FINE AMOUNT ORDERED

FORENSIC FINE ORDERED
RESTITUTION ORDERED
SHERIFF, NCCO ORDERED

SHERIFF, KENT ORDERED

SHERIFF, SUSSEX ORDERED
PUBLIC DEF, FEE ORDERED

PROSECUTION FEE ORDERED

VICTIM'S COM ORDERED

VIDEOPHONE FEE ORDERED

DELJIS FEE ORDERED

SECURITY FEE ORDERED

TRANSPORTATION SURCHARGE ORDERED

FUND TO COMBAT VIOLENT CRIMES FEE

SENIOR TRUST FUND FEE

70.00

TOTAL

**APPROVED ORDER**

5

October

AS

84.00

3, 2013 11:10



